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Thomas Moore and the Early Life of Sydney 

D. '\\'. B. ROBINSO);

A few days before Christmas in 1846, Bishop Broughton 
opened St James's College at Lyndhmst in the Glebe. The 
College was short-lived, but it represented Broughton's ambition 
to establish tertiary education in the colony under the auspices 
of the Church of Englancl.1 In the course of a Latin oration,2 
Broughton complained that no one had come fonrnrd to assist 
him in this plan to found a college which should be the germ 
of a university. But there ,ms one exception: 

One individual, a 10\l"ly man, and unlettered, li,·ing in seclusion, I 
think worthy of be,11g- commended after his death, with a due meed of 
grateful praise. l bring before your notice Thomas Moore, who 
(thougl1 himself destitute of literary accomplishments, yet being 
taught by some naturnl and imfate poll'er of discernment how great 
in the management of affairs is the use of them ... ) bequeathed his 
own residence and a small heritage for the purpose of a college. �'he 
insufficiency of the means provided has en used completion of the g·oo,l 
man's dcsig·n to be rlefen·efl to some future clay. 

Thomas Moore, landowner and magistrate at Liverpool, had 
died at an advanced age in 18-:1:0. At the time, it had seemed 
to Broughton that the terms of Moore's will would enable his 
own desire for a college to be fulfilled. In 1842 he wrote to his 
friend the Reverend Edward Coleridge at Eton: 3 'There is 
iVIoore's College to bring to maturity, in connection with the 
King's School at Parramatta and the [St James's] Grammar 
School at Sydney which are to be its feeders.' The financial 
depression of the 40's, however, temporarily reduced the value 
of Moore's estate, and Broughton had to seek other means of 
proceeding with his educational plans. Nevertheless, he was 
not unappreciative of the lowly Moore. Indeed, few things 
astonished Broughton in Australia as much as did the 
unexpected generosit? of this unlettered recluse at Liverpool. 
His gifts and bequests seemed to chang·e the whole outlook for 
the progress of the Church. There was hardly a project on 
Broughton's agenda for the establishment of true religion in 
the colony which Moore's benefactions did not promise to make 
possible. 
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Should these gifts and bequests be pcl'rnitted to take effect, I must 
regard it as a remarkable interposition of Divine Providence, looking 
upon our poverty, and by the most unexpected means supplying a share 
of daily bread for His Church in a. quarter "·here, unless I am an 
utterly false and incompetent 1Jrophet, its services will hereafter be 
more called for, and its fidelity mol'c put to the proof, than perha,ps 
in any other spot upon the eal't:1.! 

Broughton had known for some years that Moore intended 
to give a bequest to the Church. But it was only in 1838, after 
Mrs Moore's death, that Broughton learned, in a consultation 
between Moore, and lVIr Justice Burton and himself, exactly 
what Moore proposed. His home at :Moore Bank, with 2,000 
acres, was to be a residence and endowment for the Bishop of 
Australia; another 4,000 acres was to provide the means o:f: 
supplementing clerical stipends, and of supporting widows and 
orphans; a valuable property in Sydney was to provide an 
endowment for the Cathedral, "·hose building had reccntl? 
recommenced; and a number of other causes were to be sup­
ported; his second home at Liverpool was 'to be the site of a 
College, to be called St Thomas's College, as a place of education 
connected with the Church of England, and all the land which 
he has in and about that town is to be devoted towards the 
support of the College'. 5 

Broughton could scarcely conceal his excitement when he 
wrote to his friends in England about the news. 'l'he eharacter 
and circumstances of the donor served onlv to render the 
generosity the more remarkable: 

'!'here is in this colony an old gentleman named :Moore ll'ho settled 
here many years ago: and being much fa \'Ou red by Governor Macqua ric 
obtained considerable property which has gone on continually accum· 
1(1,ting ... His origin was humble; Rlld he is quite untutol'ed. He hafl 
a wife, who I believe had not alll'ays been so respectable as her hus­
band. She had a son who was a Captain in the Engineers. '!'hey "'el'0 
always very civil and hospitable to me in my visits to their house 
travelling through the countl'y; and the old gentleman was always 
forward in contributing to the suppol't of the chul'ch [St Luke'� 
Liverpool], the building of which, it seems, he had superintended.U 

Broughton was also aware that Moore had been 'employed 
by Governor Macquarie ... to clear away the timber and mark 
out the streets on the site of the intended township' of 
Liverpool, but he seems to have known little beyond that about 
his earlier life. 'He has enjoyed few advantages of education', 
he wrote to Coleridge,7 'but he has good sense and good 
principles'. 

He followed the sea many yea I'S: but I do not know in what capacity. 
1 presume a subordinate one ... His wife had been, 1 believe, once 
a prisoner of the Crown and not of Yel"y good charactel': howevcl', 
from the time that I first saw her she was nn inoffensirn old person 
and behaved with the greatest respect, and therefore I never though1· 
it necessary to go back into former histories: not always a pleasant 
inquiry even in the best of places; and here peculiarly ticklish ancl 
dangerous. 

So much for the image of Thomas Moore as it appeared 
to Broughton, and as it has continued to appear-though more 
dimly-to such as know his name in ronnection with thr 
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College eyentually founded in his home in 185G, and in con­
nection with his estate which still benefits the Church of 
England in many ways. The same image appen rs in the gloom!· 
full-length portrait which hung fo1· many years at Mool'r 
College and now hangs in the Cathedral Chaptel' House: 8 an 
obscure figure, standing \rith his hand resting on a table, St 
Luke's Liverpool Yisible through an open window, and on the 
wall of the room a portrait of thr bonneted Mrs Moore, inoffen­
sive but respectful, if not al ways so 1·cspecta ble as hcl' husbm1d. 
\Ve can appreciate Broughton being more concemrcl with the 
future than with 'going back into former histories'. But, having 
lost our inhibitions about the latter pursuit, \\·e may take our 
cue from Broughton's own text about Moore: 'He followed the 
sea many years: but I do not know in _what capacity. I presume 
n subordinate onr.' 

I 

'l'he brig B'l'1:tannia, of 29G tons, owned by John St Barbe 
of London, sailed from Falmouth 011 J 5 Februnry 1792 unde1· 
the command of 'vVilliam Raven, who was also part owner. Shr 
had been commissioned to carry stores fol' the four year old 
settlement at Botanv Bav. Davill Collins snvs that she was 
'the first of three shiiJs th�t were to be clispatcl{ecl hither having 
on board twelve months' clothing for the c01wicts, four months' 
flour, and eight months' bee:f: anll po1·k for r\·cry description of 
person in the settlements, nt full allowance, calculating their 
numbers at four thousan<l six hundred and thirt?-nine'.n 

On 23 February a member of the crew, Godfrey Robinson 
Cook, who had been robbed and beaten bet,\·ecn London and 
Gravesend, died of his wounds. On 2 June 'a spn'lll whale struck 
the ship an exceeding hem·y blow abreast the starboard fore­
chains with such Yiolence that must haYc been fatal to him. 
The ship however received no injury.' On 9 ,June 'the wheel 
rope stranded and jamming in the leading block, the ship 
broached too . .. and the whole of the decks under water'.10 

However, it was a comparatively fast journey of fhe and a half 
months, and Britcinnici dropped anchor in S?clncy Cove in thr 
evening of Thursday, 26 July. The next morning preparations 
were made to discharge the cargo. The arriYal of Britcinnia 
gave great satisfaction to the colony, for her stores relieved the 
most severe shortage of proYisions experienced during the 
governorship of Arthur Phillip. The carpenter of Britannia 
was Thomas Moore, at the time 30 years of age.11 

The last of the cargo was discharged by 19 August ancl 
Britcinnici, having concluded its government contract, prepared 
at once for sea. Captain Raven had a three-year fishing license 
from the East India Company, and his intention was to collect 
seal skins for the China market. He proposed to inYestigate thr 
sealing grounds at Dusky Bay, a fiord at the south-west cornel' 
of the South Island of New Zealand, and if practicable leaYc 11 

party there to collect skins. 'Duskey Bay' had first been obsenecl 
and named by Captain Cook i11 E11cleavowr in 1770. On his 
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second great voyage in Resolution, Cook had spent five weeks at 
Dusky Bay, recuperating his crew and ship during March and 
April 1773, and exploring and charting the bays and islands of 
the fiord. It was Cook's observation of seals there which caused 
Captain Raven and his crew to turn in that direction in hope 
of trade nearly twenty years later.12 

On 30 September 1792, Brifonnia moved out 9f Sydney 
Cove into the main stream of the harbour, and, leaving the 
Cove looking 'solitary and uncomfortable', proceeded down to 
Bradley's Head, where she anchored, waiting for suitable winds. 
Before she could sail, however, Major Grose of the New South 
'\Vales Corps made an approach to Captain Raven on behalf of 
himself and nine other officers of the Corps, as a result of which 
Raven accepted a charter· to sail to the Cape of Good Hope to 
secure supplies. Governor Phillip disapproved of this com­
mercial venture by the army officers, but the arrangement was 
made nevertheless. It was agreed that Raven would proceed via 
Dusky Bay in accordance with his original intention, and go 
from there to South Africa via Cape Horn and Brazil. So 
Britannici returned to the CoYe. 

'Our destination being changed', wrote Robert lVIurry, 13 

'we of course were to begin a new set of operations. All hands 
were employed cutting and pressing hay sufficient for forty 
head of cattle which it was intended we should bring from the 
Cape of Good Hope-On Monday 22 of October we were once 
more ready for Sea-and on '\Vednesday unrnoorecl weighed ancl 
worked out.' 

Thus Thomas lVIoore concluded his first sojourn in Ne\\' 
South .. Wales. It had lasted three months, and no doubt he had 
been sufficiently occupied with the concerns of the ship. But 
it was something to have seen the embryonic town of Sydney 
and to have shared in the life of the infant settlement in the 
days of its first administration.14 

One day out of Sydney Britannia encountered a school of 
sperm whales, and gave chase. Raven lowered a boat and killed 
a whale. The following day they tried out the oil and got twelve 
barrels. So, like her namesake Britannict under Captain Melville, 
our Brita,nnia could also hunt whales and try them down while 
at sea! 

II 

'\Vhen the ship arrived at Dusky Sound, Raven made an 
inspection of its possibilities. The second mate, '\;l,7illiam Leith, 
'in the most unequivocal and manly manner you can conceive', 
agreed to remain, and Raven put him in charge of a group of 
eleven volunteers. One of these was the carpenter, Moore. It 
was decided that the party should settle themselves at Luncheon 
Cove on the south side of Anchor Island. lVIoore's first task 
was to fell timber and prepare it for the needs of the ship, and 
then from 14 November all hands were employed, no doubt 
under l\foore's direction, in building a house for the gang-the 
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first dwelling made by Europeans in New Zealand. It was 40' 
long, 18' wide, 15' high, and thatched overall with flax leaves. 
Provisions and stores for twelve months were landed, together 
with ironwork, cordage and sails for the building and rigging 
of a small ship to be used in the event of Britcinnici's failure 
to return. Raven reports that he left his shipmates 'perfectly 
satisfied with their situation'.15 Nevertheless, his departure 
must have been a solemn rnornent.16 

So it came to pass that Moore spent what must have been 
a very lonely and arduous ten months in the remote south-land 
of New Zealand, in a fiord which even today, desolate and 
magni:ficent, is hardly touched by man. The gang collected 4,500 
seal skins, though this was regarded as a disappointing result. 
l\foore's chief concern, however, was the building of the ship. 
All the timber had to be found, felled and shaped, and the 
ship built on stocks. 

Finally, on 27 September the following year, Britcinnici 
returned to Dusky Bay. She had been to the Cape of Good 
Hope, via Cape Horn, having called at the island of Santa 
Catherina off Brazil en rotite. She had then done the round 
trip to Sydney, arriving with the commissioned stores in June 
1793. This time the government at Sydney commissioned Raven 
to procure stores from Calcutta, and he was given permission 
to spend a maximum of fourteen days at Dusky Bay en roide, to 
take off his party. So Britcinnici left Sydney on 8 September. 
On Friday 27 September she made Anchor Island harbour on 
the opposite side of the island to Luncheon Cove, and :fired 
six guns, to announce her arrival. Shortly, Murry tell us, 'Mr 
Leith and five others came on board, who informed us that all 
the rest were well, which gave us no small satisfaction.' The 
rest of the sealing party were then collected, and all returned 
to a celebration supper on the ship. 'vVe killed a Goat ( the only 
remainder of our live stock), and I will venture to assert that a 
more pleasant sensation than this afforded had never been felt 
by any of the persons who composed this entertainment.' There 
were four passengers on board Britcinnfri on this voyage 
(including one woman, probably the first white woman to visit 
New Zealand). There was good reason for the 'pleasant sen­
sation'. It had been an ordeal and an achievement even b? 
mariners' standards in the eighteenth century. Murry con­
tinues: 'The satisfactory intelligence of their safety exceedrrl 
four expectations]. They had now been Ten Months on a 
Desolate (and to them) and an Uninhabited Jslancl. withont 
communication of any sort, and withont any kind of refresh­
ment than what we left them. They had built a Vessel of Sixt�, 
or Seventy To·ns and had proceeded so far in Her as to haY" 
been able to have le-ft the place in 3 Months -from the time of 
our arrival.'17 

The Dusky Bay episode was more than a passing adventm·r 
for Moore. It may well haYe had a clecisiYc effect on his futul'c. 
in connectio11 with ltis becoming a member of the ciYil establish-
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ment of New South \Vales. For although, strangely enough, 
he is not mentioned by name in an�· of the records of the 
expedition, the reputation of 'the carpenter' in two connections 
is more than once referred to. Fii-st, ns nn ns�essor of timber. 
Murry records in his journal: 'The timber which grows here 
,rould answer very well for plank, for the Ship Builder, Joiner, 
or Cabinet Maker. This is the opinion of our Carpenter in the 
Britnnnici, he being as well acquainted with its properties as 
any man of his profession.'18 David Collins, recording the report 
brought back from Dusky Bay by the schooner Ji'rcinds, which 
had accompanied Brita,nnici there when it ,rent to collect the 
sealing party, mentions Captain Raven ns having declared 'thr 
spruce fir of that country to be the finest wood that he had 
observed for ship-building', ancl adds, 'tlw carpenter of the 
Britcinnici, nn ingenious man, ancl master of his profession, com­
pared it to English oak for durability and strength'.19 Later, in 
1803, when the need arose to examine the possibilit�, of export­
ing timber from New South ·wales, it "·as Thomas Moore whom 
King appointed as 'Surveyor of timber throughout the colon�· 
for naval purposes',2° and in commending him to the Horne 
Government for a rise in salary, as 'n Yery valuable man to this 
colony', specified that 'he has selected ancl collec1"ecl all the timhrr 
sent by the Glatton and Calcidta'.21 

But Moore's chief claim to fame at Dusky Bay was his 
ship-building. Raven'· report to King on reaching Norfolk 
Island, with his commendation of Moore, is the most importan1" 
of: a number of references to this nchievernent: 

\Vhat excited m�' admii-ntion ,ms thP progress thcv hncl ma.de in 
constructing n ycsscl of the following dimensions:- 40 ft. 6 in. keel, 
53 ft. length upon deck, 16 ft. 10 in. cxt-rcmc breadth, nncl 12 ft. holrl. 
She is skinecl, ceilecl nncl clccke,1, and with the ,rnrk of three or fon,. 
men for one clay would be ready for caulking. Her framr knees ancl 
crooked JJicces nrc cut from timber gro1Yi1ir.- to th0 mould. She is 
planked, cleckecl, and ccilrd with thr sprnre fir. which in the opinion 
of the carpenter is Yer.v liUl<' inferiol' to English on k. 

Her constrnction is such that she 11·ill cnl'n' mo•·c bv one-half than sh,• 
measures, and T am confident will sail m?ll. The carprntcr has great 
merit, nncl hns hnilt her with that streng·th ancl ncntness which fe11· 
shipwrights helong·'np; to t.hc merchant srn·'c<' nr0 r·:1pablf' of pcr­
forming. 22 

In the light of this tribute by Rm·en, it is l'Cgrettable that 
,re know nothing of where Moore ma_v ha,·e l'eceived his earlier 
training. But it can hardly be a coincidence that ,rithin threr 
years of the Dusky Bay enterprise, Moore had been nppointril 
Master Boat Builder to the colony of Ne"· 8011th ·wnles. 

Raven's contl'act forced him to lca\·e the nem:l_v-compktcd 
ship on the stocks at Dusky Bay, but thel'c ,ras an interesting· 
sequel, which, since the ship ,ms built by i\foore, \Ye ma�· 
briefly mention.23 An 800-ton East-lncliarnan, the E11cleavonr, 
under Captain ·William Bnmpton, nrrired at Dusky Sound from 
Sydne�, two years latcl' in October 1795, accompa n iccl by the 
small brig Ji'cmcy. E11dNtt·o11r \\'flS in rrn· hacl shapr. Storms 
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at Dusky Sound further Llamaged Endeavoilr, and the ship was 
abandoned. Moore's ship of sixty-five tons was then completed, 
named Providence, and it set sail with ninety persons aboard 
for Norfolk Island. It is last heard of under Captain Robert 
Murry, erstwhile fourth officer of Britcinnia, sailing as escort 
to Fcincy, under Captain Bampton, near the Loyalty Islands, 
probably bound for Batavia. The remains of Endecivour lie to 
this day in Dusky Sound, and were identified as recently as 
1963 by Charles and Neil Begg, who also found the site of the 
house used by Britcinnia's sealing gang. 'Signs of their activity 
still remain, and it is possible to see the stumps of trees which 
were cut down for use in the house and ship, or for spars and 
yards.'24 Thus has Thomas Moore left his mark to this day in 
the place where the first pages in the history of Europeans in 
New Zealand were written. 

III 

Britcl?lnia sailed away from Dusky Sound with all aboard 
on 20 October 1793, heading for India. She called at Norfolk 
Island, and landed two cases of scurvy. The Lieutenant 
Governor, Philip Gidley King, partly undee the pretext that 
the wind was not suitable for continuing the Yoyage to India 
at once, commissioned Raven to take him to the Bay of Islands 
in New Zealand, for the purpose of returning· to their homes 
the two Maoris kidnapped by the Daedalits who had been 
brought to Norfolk to instruct the settlement in the uses of the 
New Zealand flax plant. ''\Ve were employed clearing and 
cleaning the tween decks', writes Murry, 'to receive a party of 
soldiers, in order to proceed to Knuckle Point, New Zealand, 
with the two natives, Tooky and Hoodoo'. Thus Brifonnia left 
Norfolk Island on 9 November and returned on 18 November. 
King's encounter with the iVIaoris of the Bay of Islands is 
eecorded, and it may be supposed that Moore took an interest in 
these proceedings.25 It would also have been his first meeting 
with King, unclel' whom he was later to serYc in New South 
Vfales. 

Brifonnia arrived back at Sydney CoYe on 1 June 1794. 
It had been a slow journey and beset with difficulties. In the 
event she did not reach Calcutta. They 1·eachccl Manila, afte1· 
discovering a number of islands, on 22 January 1794. On 2 
February they entered the Straits of' Malaccn, where they wel'c 
attacked by pirates. For six hours, from eight in the morning 
till two in the afternoon, Britcinnia was engaged by large sixt:v­
oared proas, which RaYen clcscribrcl as 'mounted "·ith a twel\'l· 
or nine pounder, beside swivels on their platfonns'. Rm·en 
turned back to Bata,·ia, where he \\'l:lS advirncl not to attempt 
to run the blockade, as the infestation of pirates co1,tinuccl into 
the Bay of Bengal.2G He clccided to secure "·hat stores he could 
in Batavia. Negotiations were difficult, but he duly made his 
purchases and returned to Sydney. 
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Brita11nia made two further voyages on behalf of the colony. 
On 1 September 1794 she sailed for the Cape of Good Hope 'on 
a second speculation for some of the g·entlemen belonging to 
the settlement'.27 This was her second circumnavigation of the 
world, and it was a voyage to be remembered. In 125 days at 
sea, Britannici logged 16,977.7 miles, averaging 136 miles 6 fns 
per day, or 5 miles 5 fns an hour.28 She was back in port on 
2 March 1795 and landed her cargo, which included thirty-three 
live mares. She sailed again on 18 June, under charter by 
Lieutenant-Governor Paterson, to go to Calcutta for livestock 
and other needed stores, and returned eleven months later on 
11 May 1796. But when Captain Raven again left Sydney CoYe 
on 29 September to take Britcinnict back to England, Thomas 
Moore was no longer a member of her cre,Y. She had been dis­
charged from her charter to Paterson on 5 June, and we ma? 
assume that from about that elate, if not earlier,29 Thomas 
Moore, having 'followed the sea many years' (no doubt 'in a 
subordinate capacity') had become a free settler in the colon�, 
of New South 'l<l ales. 

IV 

'Mr Thos. Moore is appointed to the place of master boat­
builder, in the room of Mr Daniel Paine, commencing on the 
2nd instant.' So stated the Government and General Order 
issued by the Governor, John Hunter, on 13 September 1796.30 

Before Hunter left England, to replace Phillip as Gow1·nor 
of the settlement, he had taken up with Under-Secretary King 
the matter of a boat-builder for the colon�·. He wrote on l May 
1794: 31 

I have found a clever young man from Deptford Yard to fill the 
office of boat builder, etc. rit Port Jackson-a situation which you 
seemed to think, when T mentioned it to you, highly requisite there, 
and desired that I would look out for a person whom I might think 
qualified. 'l'he person whom T first had in mind has since declined. 
not thinking the encouragement sufficient. The present officer, Daniel 
Paine, who is well recommended to me. both for his theoretical anrl 
practical knowledge, cannot obtain his discharge from Deptford Yard 
until I can assure the Nnv.v Board that hP is actuall,v entered upon 
the establishment of the colony. 

The appointment was made, and Paine sailed for Port 
Jackson with Hunter in Relictnce. They arrived in Sydney on 7 
September 1795, and Paine's name appeared on the civil est:=i h­
lishment list on 25 October oi' that year. 

Paine, howeYer, was replaced by Thomas Moore "·ithin 
twelve months. No reason for Paine's supersession is giYen in 
the records. Other replacements mentioned in the same Gm·em­
ment Order of 13 September give the reason for the predecessor 
relinquishing his office; but not so in the case o-f' P:=iine. How­
cYer, Hunter was at this time greatly troubled b? the ineffici­
ency of a number of the lesser officers on the ciYil establishment. 
and on 20 August he had written to l ncler-Secretary King to 
seek his apprornl to m:=ike his own :=ippointrnents for cert:=iin 
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of these positions from suitable peoplr-even convicts ii' neces­
sary-locally recruited. He wrote: 

In many of those people recommendecl to Gornrnment at home to fill 
little offices hern much imposition has been practised. Tt would be far 
less expensive to the public if, when any particular work is wanted, 
the Govemor for the time being were allowed to offer some little 
pecuniary rewanl to some of the inge11ions people who are sometimes 
to be found here, whether con,·icts or frre; such particular work might 
in this way be accomplished without the hlll'then of a sallcry. 'l'he 
millwright and miller, one at 100 gns aml the other at 50 gns a year, 
are sad impositions, m11] T have no opportunity of sending them home 
for want of a ship going from hence immediately to England in the 
service of Go1·ern111ent.H2 

It may only be coincidence, bnt among the disabilities which 
Hunter deplores in the same letter is this, 'Our boats gone to 
rnin and decay'. 

This complaint was not, ul' course, new. Hunter had 
written to the Duke of Portland on 21 December 1795: 

The boats of the settlement, by which our principal communication 
between this place and the other d:stricts is to be kept up, having 
a.Isa fallen to ruin and decay, it becomes n Yer,v essential concern to 
hal'C them rnbuilt or repaired, as without them we cannot convey the 
necessary supplies of pro,·ision 01· other stores from one place to the 
other; no time must therefore be lost in putting· them in such a sta.te 
:is to render them safe nnrl usefuJ.H:1 

One has the impression that the situation was little 
improved by the following August, and that Hunter may have 
been anxious to replace Paine with one of 'the ingenious people 
who are sometimes to be found here'. 

·whether or not Daniel Paine was one of the 'persons sent
here upon salaries who have not yet been of any use',34 there 
can be no doubt of the suitability of the former carpenter of 
Brifonnin for the urgent task of putting the small shipping of 
the colony into order. As we have seen, Captain Raven had a 
very high opinion of Moore as a boat-builder, and had reported 
his efficiency to King at Norfolk Island following the Dusky 
Bay expedition in 1793. 

Hunter also knew of the ship which had been built at Dusky 
Bay, He may therefore have already known of JVIoore's ability 
as a boat-builder, and have been confident that he had found 
the man he was looking for, to take charge of the clock-yard 
which he had established on the west side of Sydney Cove, and 
to supervise both the repair and building of boats for the use 
of the colony. In particular, there was need for a small vessel 
to maintain communications regularly between Sydney and 
Norfolk Island, F'rnncis had been shipped out in frame on Pitt

in 1792 and put together on stocks by a former carpenter's mate 
from Siriils, and launched and fitted out by Captain Raven and 
his crew in July 1793, while Moore and the sealing party werr 
in New Zealand. She was of forty-three tons, and had sailed 
between Sydney, New Zealand and Norfolk Island, and now 
carried a foremast of Dusky Sound red pine (fitted by 
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Moore?) .35 But in November of 1796 Huntel' gaYe notice of 
needing something more reliable: 

The small schooner sent out some yenl's ago in frnmc grnws very 
infirm, and she is the only vessel we ham in the nb,cnce of the King', 
ships for keeping up om intercomse ll'ith Norfolk Tslnncl. We gi,·c 
her occasionnlly such repairs a.s she may require, nnrl ll'e have the 
poll'er of applying, but she is too small. If T had a sufficient strength 
in carpenters, I would undertake to bnilcl one of 70 or 80 tons burthen, 
which I think 11·ould be hig·hly serviceable between thi� nncl Nol'folk 
Isla.ncl.36 

It is not out of place to see Hunter's appointment of Moore 
as, in a small but not unimportant sphere, an aspect of his 
'new regime', the establishment of which is the subject of a long 
despatch to the Duke of Portland in June 1797.37 

V 

There may have been other reasons for l\foore's decision to 
become a free settler in Sydney and to accept appointment as 
master boat-builder, for on 11 January 1797 he married Rachel 
Turner. The marriage ,ms solemnized by the Reverend Richard 
Johnson, chaplain to the colony,38 and it presumably took place 
in the church building which Johnson had himself erected on 
the eastern side of the town in 1793. 

Rachel Turner had been in the colony since 1790. She had 
received a seven year sentence of transportation at the Old 
Bailey in March 1788, and had been sent out in Lcicly Juliano

with more than 200 other female convicts. The treatment of the 
convicts on this ship had been particularly good-in contrast to 
that on some other transports-and received very fayourable 
comment from some of the convicts themselves. The ship arrived 
at Port Jackson on 3 June 1790. Most of the women were taken 
on to Norfolk Island, but some were assigned to officers of the 
colony in Sydney. Rachel Turner became housekeeper to l\fr 
John ·white, surgeon in the first fleet, and now senior surgeon 
in the colony.39 

Presumably she was one of the 'well-belul\·ed women' classi­
fied by King as 'among the comparative few who came from the 
English counties'.40 On 23 September 1793 she bore "\Vhite a son, 
who was baptized Andrew Douglass ,Vhite by Mr Johnson on 
30 November. ·when ·white left for England on leave in 
Daeclctlit,s on 16 December 1794 he apparently took his fifteen­
month old son with him. 

Did ·white's relation with Rachel Turner have any bearing 
on his final decision not to return to the colony? Taking his son 
to England suggests that he did not contemplate a regular 
union. He was still nominally senior surgeon; but he pro­
crastinated about his return. Rienits says that it was clear in 
the first part of 1796 that he had 'no real intention of returning 
to New South vVales'.41 Yet it was not until he rec0ived an 
ultimatum from Undrr-Secretary King on JO August of that 
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year that he formally resigned.42 He was replaced by William 
Balmain on 16 August. But he couk1 hardly ignore Rachel and 
her future. 

Two circumstances may have had some relevance to ·white's 
intentions. On 30 October 1795, Under-Secretary King 
despatched to Hunter certificates o:f: the sentences of Rachel 
Turner and her friend lVIargarct Dnwson (housekeeper and 
cle facto wi:f:e o:f: surgeon '\Villiam Bnlmain), 'by which', he snid, 
'you will perceive that the term of years for which those women 
were sentenced to be transported has been for some time con­
cluded'.43 Records o:f: sentences were not efficiently kept, and it 
was often difficult in the colony to ascertain exactly when a 
convict's sentence was due to expire. '\Vas the despatch regard­
ing just these two women coincidentaH '\,Vas it perhaps 
prompted by some representation on '\Vhite's part, designed to 
put Rachel's freedom beyond dispnte1 He had arrived in Lon­
don in July that year, and \\'Ould haYe had access to the Under­
Secretary in the ordinary course o:f: his duty . 

The other circumstance was the presencP on the scene of 
lVIoore himself. ·white must haYe known lVIoore in Sydney. A 
survey o:f: certain damaged stores on Britannia had been con­
ducted by '\Vhite and two others in August 1792.H '\Vhite's 
house in the High Street was next door to Captnin Raven's.45 

Brw;cinnia, was in port for three months in 1792, and again for 
three months in 1794 prior to ·white's departure. The most 
natural place for lVIoore to have lodged on shore would have been 
the vicinity of these houses, perhaps eYen in the house o:E either 
Raven or ·white. There is every likelihood that he was well 
acquainted with both '\Vhite and his housekeeper during his 
first visits to Sydney. Later, ,,Thite allowed lVIoore the virtual 
ownership of his house, and entrusted him with the agency of 
his other properties. Now the despatch about Rachel's emanci­
pation reached Sydney probably b? lnclisp,ensclble on 30 April 
1796. Britannici reached port 011 11 i\fa�, follo\\'ing, bringing 
lVIoorc into the vicinity, if he was not alreac1,v lodging there.4G 

He was appointed to the dockyard oYer the road on 13 
September. He married Rachel on 11 J annary the following 
year. Yet notice of vVhite's resignation as principal surgeon 
was not posted in Sydney until 17 lVIay 1797,47 by which time 
Moore was not only married to vVhite's housekeeper, the mother 
o:f: his child, but was in all probability living in vVhite's house. 
Considering lVIoore's reputation for probity, it seems likely that 
he would have acted with '\Vhite's knowledge and approval in 
making an honest woman o:E Rachel, and this means that the 
whole matter must have been in '\Vhite's calculations during 
1795 and 1796 as he considered whether or not to return to the 
colony. At all events, lVIoore was a member of the civil establish­
ment, and Rachel Turner was a free woman, when the marriage 
took place, by special permission o:f: the Governor and witnessed 
by Thomas Smyth and lVIargaret Dawson.48 

II 
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There was a certain social symmetry about i\Ioore's wedding. 
Thomas Smyth was a member of the civil establishment, like 
himself, locally recruited and of about the same grade; their 
first land holdings were of the same extent and were side by 
side in the same area of Bulanaming. Rachel and Margaret were 
apparently both English country girls, who had entered and 
been discharged from His Majesty's detention together; had 
both been assigned to surgeons of the settlement, and could both 
sign their own names (Margaret quite prettily) at the wedding.49 

The marriage marked the one essential difference between their 
statuses. Rachel, having borne a son to '\Vhite, was now becom­
ing the lawful wife of a respectable inhabitant of . the colony; 
the birth of Margaret's first child to Balmain was only ten weeks 
away when she attended Rachel's wedding, but she never 
attained respectability. 

VI 

Moore's first task was the rebuilding of several government 
boats which had become 'mere wrecks and useless'. In the course 
of the year there were also surveys to be made of HM's ships 
Reliunce and Siipvly, which had arrived at Sydney in a most 
unseaworthy condition.50 

Hunter's Return of Labour for 1797 gives some idea of the 
responsibilities of the master boat-builder.51 ·with sixteen ship­
wrights, caulkers, boat-builders, labourers, and watchmen in the 
dockyard, the following work was executed: 

Built a new pinnace; a whaleboat for Pararnatta, a burthensornc 
punt for discharging ships with the more expedition, a boat for H.l\,[. 
ship the Reliance; a longboat for H.l\I. ship the Supply; repair the 
Francis schooner, the hospital, and South Head boats; erected a 
steamer for seasoning of plank; pailecl in the dockyard, hung gates, 
built sheds for boats and for the snwyers; lined the inside of the 
provisions store; remounted upon new cnniages the t\yo brass field­
pieces; made sheds, hacks, barrows, molds etc. for the brickrnnkers, 
the former ones having been suffered to go to decay; layed �he keel 
of a new brig of 150 tons burthen; built a new wood boat for the 
hospital. 

In addition, 'the foundation of a new house for the master­
shipwright' was laid by government labour. This was a large 
stone house built adjoining the dockyard at its northern end, 
and it was apparently still not completed early in 1799, so we 
cannot say just when Moore moved into it. But this may be a 
convenient point at which to say something about the topo­
graphy of the west side of Sydney Cove.52 For with this cradle 
of our city none had closer or longer associations than Thomas 
Moore. 

The hospital, the market-place, and the dockyard, were the 
three centres of activity on the High Street where it moved 
through the Rocks area, a little in from the shore. Moore had 
a kind of link even with the hospital, through his oblique 
relationship with ·white, but he was intimately part of both the 
market-place and the dockyard. The market-place was a kind of 
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bulge in the High Street where it passed by the Public or 
Hospital wharf. On the harbour side of the market, and adjoin­
ing the dockyard, was the house of Daniel Cubitt, not far from 
Isaac Nichols' house on the other side of the approach to the 
wharf. Looking down to the wharf from the west side of the 
market were the houses of John ·white and Captain Raven. 
Evidently, as we have seen, Moore lived in ·white's house from 
1796 to 1799, if not earlier. He and Cubitt were called upon, 
having been Isaac Nichols' nearest neighbours, to testify to the 
latter's general conduct, at a trial early in 1799.53 "\Vhite had 
been given a fourteen yea;r lease of his site in May 1793, and he 
renewed this in 1806 in the name of his and Rachel lVIoore's son 
Andrew.54 But there is little doubt that this was the residence 
advertised for letting in the Sydney Gcizette in March 1804, and 
there described as 'kno,vn by the name of Mr Moore's house ... 
nearly opposite the hospital wharf'. It had 'an excellent garden 
containing some choice fruit-trees', and was ideal for trade. 
After Moore moved out of it to live in his official residence, it 
had been rented by "\Villiam Tough, a close associate of Moore's. 
( Tough and Moore were fellow trustees o:E "\Villiam Cox's estate, 
until the former died in February 1805.) Then two friends 
of Tough's operated there, Captain Buyers and another sailor 
named Turnbull,55 who, having been shipwrecked in the Pacific, 
arrived in Sydney from Tahiti in Dcirt in September 1803. The 
new tenant in 1804 was Rosetta Stabler, who 'dressed victuals', 
and sold beer and pork pies there.56 (Stabler's beer was perhaps 
the first to be brewed commercially in the colony!) Moore's 
name was to be linked with this spot for a century. In 
September 1807, Raven's house next door, 'painted red', was 
put up for auction.57 Presumably Moore bought it. At all 
events, a lease of 79½ rods here (White's and Raven's places?) 
was given to Moore by Paterson in July 1809, and, with slight 
adjustments, given to him as a crown grant by Macquarie on 25 
August 1812.58 By this time Moore had left Sydney for 
Liverpool, and the property was let. In the 1820's and 30's, 
Francis Mitchell, a wealthy ship's chandler, ran his business 
in the premises.59 Eventually Moore gave the property to 
Bishop Broughton in 1839 to assist in the building of St 
Andrew's Cathedral, and to provide an endowment. The site­
today it comprises three shops with a frontage o:E 100 ft. on 
the south-west corner o:E George and Globe Streets-was resumed 
by the State Government in 1901, and the Cathedral receiYed 
£20,000 compensation, which still represents the only large 
endowment the Cathedral has been given for itR maintenance, in 
its history since 1819. 

Hunter's dockyard was north of the Public wharf. J1 
extended from about the front door of the present Maritime 
Services Building to a point a little beyond Cadman's cottage. 
The house built for Moore as master-shipwright was immediately 
north of this, approximately where the Mariners' Church waic; 
Inter built, which is now the main hall of the Missions to Sea­
men. The shore-line was precipitous at this point, and the large 

13 

j 



.. ,,,

rocks at the water's edge, which formed an island at high tide, 
make it easy to identify Moore's house on early maps and draw­
ings. It evidently had upper gable rooms, and stood back in 
its own garden, facing the Cove. Here, or hereabouts, had been 
the Yery first burial gl'Ound of the colony. Behind Moore's 
lwuse, across the High Street, but a little further south, was the 
residence of Surgeon Balmain and the hospital buildings. To 
his north, where Captain Henry "Waterhouse and John Baughan 
the master carpenter had originally resided, Moore's neighbom· 
was merchant Robert Campbell, who purchased the ·'Naterhouse 
and Baughan properties about ,Tune 1799,60 and so began his 
trading about the time of Moore's arrirnl at that end of High 
Street. The t\\'O men were closel? associated: Robert Campbel] 
Junior became executor and trustr.e of Moore's estatr after the 
latter's death in J 840. 

Early in 1799 the location of Moore's new house figured in 
the trial of Isaac Nichols, the proceedings of which are recorded 
in full in the Historical Records of' New S01ith Wales.61 Nichols, 
an emancipated convict, was ove1:seer of co1wicts in Sydney at 
the time. Later he became a shipO\rncr nnd lnndowner, and 
under Paterson and Macquarie becnme the colony's first post­
master. In 1799 he lived in a substnntial house which he lrnd 
built on the south side of the dockyard. As we haYe seen, Moore 
was called on at his trial (on a charge o:f: having received stolen 
goods) to testify to his good character and his orderly house, 
NI:oore having lived opposite him in the market .. place for some 
time. Pnrt of the evidence wns that the stolen tobncco had been 
placed by a certain party 'between two rocks nenr the 11ew 
house building for Mr Moore'. Lieutenant Willinm Kent, whose 
own house was on the north-east corner of George and Bridge 
Streets, and who voted to acquit Nichols, offered the following 
comment on the location: 'The dockyard is between the house 
of Isaac Nichols and Mr Moore's, and the fence of the dockynrd 
runs into the wnter OYer the rocks on that side Sydney Cove, 
which rocks are steep to, so that there is no way of passing 
from Nichols's house to the two rocks where the tobncco was 
found but on the main road, by the hospital and other public 
and private buildings, along which many people must haYe 
hcen pnssing and repassing ... ' 

In August of 1798 Moore was appointed an officer of the 
Vice-Admiralty Court which tried the case o:f: the mutiny on 
Bcirwell. The court consisted of some eight narnl officers nnd 
the same number of civilians. '\Vith Moore snt the surgeon. 
Thomas Arndell and Baron Alt the surveyor of the colony.G2 

Moore continued as a member of this court on other oecnsions. 
In August 1802, for exmnplc, he was a member of the Cour1' 
which tried the master of Herc11les in connection with thr 
shooting of mutineers. 

As the colony's boat-builder, ::\Ioore was closely concerned 
not only ·with the colony's main means of trnnsport, hut also 
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with the Yarious coastnl expeditions of men like Oeorge Bnss 
and l\!Iatthew Flinders. 

For Bass's expedition of 1798 on which he established the 
existence of a strait between Van Diemen's Land and the main­
land, Hunter had 'furnished him with an excellent whale boat, 
,Yell-fitted, victualled and mnnned to his wish'.63 This boat had 
been built in Sydney of native banksia timber. It is quite 
possible, therefore, that it was built by Moore. Positive evid­
ence is lacking, though a whale-boat is listed among the items 
constructed at the dockyard in 1797 .6·1 

Investigator, in which Flinders charted the whole coast of 
Australia, came out from England, but it was Thomas l\!Ioore 
and his team who repaired and refitted it in Sydney when it 
limped home after it had nearly come to grief in the Gulf of 
Carpentaria.65 

Moore of course !me"· both men, \\'ho \\'ere about his own 
age. He sat with Flinders on the Vice-Admiralty Court. ·when 
Flinders finally left for England in September 1803, it was in 
the tiny Ciimberlcind, placed at his disposal after the wreck of 
Porpoise. The departure of Cim1berlcind raised a cheer. 'This 
,·essel', reported the Sydney Gazette, 'is only 29 tons burthen; 
but being built by l\lir l\!Ioore under the direction of GoYernor 
Hunter ... there is no doubt of her continuing as a good sea 
boat as experience has shewn her to be in Yery tempestuous 
weather off Norfolk Island and in Bass's St1·aits, and in every 
way equal to carry a Sufficiency of ProYisions and vVater for 
Captain Flinders, the Officers, and nine men \\'ho are appointed 
to navigate the first vessel built in this Colony to England ... 
May her voyage be safe and expeditious !'66 It was scarce!�, 
:Yioore's fault that so small a ship, originally built to bring grain 
from the Hawkesbury, was hardly equal to its task. Flinders 
practically apologizes to the builder for the complaints he was 
forced to ma·ke of the increasing problems of sailing her. Never­
theless, Flinders records that in Cnniberlctnd he was able to 
'add much' to his 'former investigation of the cbngerous strait 
between New Holland and New Guinea,' and do 'eyerything for 
the advancement of geography and navigation' that his orders 
made possiblc.67 He was compelled, as everyone knows, to pnt 
in at Mauritius, to his lasting loss. There Cmnberland remained 
when Flinders ,ms released six and a half years later, the 
French refusing to give her np. Flinders records that between 
1803 Ftnd 1810 he 'saw the C,umberland cmployecl in the French 
senice'.68 I know not what became o-f her. 

George Bass had closer links with :;\foorc. l n 1800 Bass 
married Elizabeth ·waterhonse, sister of Captain Henry "\Vntcr­
house, in London. The "\Vatcrhouses ,rere friends o-f .Tohn 
·white, and Elizabeth was 11cting as foster-mother to .Andrew
·white, Rachel l\!Ioore's child, in England. Bass returned alon('
to Sydney in his brig 11 eniis, and in 1803 set out to explore the
commercial po. sibilities of Dusky Bay, and to go on from there
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to South America.69 It is natural to suppose that he was in 
consultation with Moore about Dusky Bay before he left. But 
no certain trace of him was ever discovered thereafter. One of 
the last rumours of him is contained in a letter written by 
Moore, dated at Liverpool, New South Wales, on 15 December 
1817: 

I have just heard t, report that i\Ir Bass is a.live yet in South America. 
A captn. of a ves:el belonging to this port, trading among the islands 
to the east, fell in with a whaler, and the captn. informed he Imel 
seen such a person, and described the person of Mr Bass. 'l'he captn. 
of a vessel out of this port knowing i\Ir Bnss well, he is of a belief, 
the description that the mnste1· of the ,Yhnler giYCs of him, it's cer­
tainly Mr Bnss-heing a <loctor too-whir,h is still n strong·er rea.son.,n 

VII 

It is not clear ho,,- early Moore, ,rhose ultimate wealth 
came chiefly from the land, actually became a landowner. I-le 
received a grant of 470 acres at Bulanaming on the 5 October 
1799, but in Hunter's account of land grants for that yea1· there 
is a note: 'By different Governors, bnt renewed in one grant 
by Governor Hunter'.71 The same note is attached to a similar 
grant to Thomas Smyth, the Pro\'ost Martial, whose allotment 
adjoined Moore's. If the note is accurate it presumably means 
that Moore had acquired some sort of title to land even before 
the arrival of Hunter in 1795, that is while he, Moore, was still 
on Brifonnia. He was, as \\-e remember, on shore for a time 
during 1794 when Grose was acting governor and again from 
March to June 1795 in Paterson's administration. His name 
does not appear among the Bnlanaming allotments on Grimes' 
'Plan of the Settlements in New South '\Vales' of 1796,72 and 
neither does Smyth's, but he ma�, haYe had some sort o:f: holcling­
nevertheless. 

'l'he Bulanaming settlement was the closest agricultural 
settlement to Sydney itself. It was formed in February 1793. It 
was a section o:f: the district o:f: Petersharn, south from Parra­
matta Road, and by 1799 comprised approximately what is no,\' 
Stanmore and Enmore. 'i\foore's holding, known as 'Douglas 
Farm' adjoined the southwest corner of Major Johnston'R 
'Annandale Farm' and lay south o:f: the properties of Thomas 
Rowley (Kingston Farm) and Edward Laing (who formerl? 
had a holding at Vlatson's Bay) .73 I surmise that today'R 
Douglas Street, by Stanmore station, marks approximate1y the 
northern boundary o:f: this farm. Thomas Smyth's holding was 
on M:oore's eastern boundary towards Camclenville. By 1801 
Moore had only five acres of his property clearecl. 74 He sup­
ported one horse and five hogs and was nssignecl one convict' 
to assist him in the oversight. A year later the return Rho,"s 
that he had 100 acres cleared, five o:f: which were in production 
of maize and wheat. He had six horses, eleven horned cattle and 
four hogs, and sti11 one convict to work the property.75 In 
October 1803 iVIoore's farm was enlarged by a further grant of 
700 acres.76 This extended his propert? southward to Cook's 
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mJ,ie mu.hl..ct (f)£, 
Mi-! T.HO;- MOORE. 
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Ri,·er and was approximately within the area of :;'\lanickxilk 
bounded today by Stanmore Road to the north, Livingstone 
Road on the \\'est, Princes High,rn5· on the east and Cook's Riwr 
on the south. 

In December 1805 Moo1·e receiYecl his first grant of land at 
Banks Town-750 acres in the bend of the George's River in the 
area no\\· known as Moorebank. ·when he resigned his position 
as master boat-builder in October 180!) his Moorebank estate 
was enlarged by 1,300 acres (300 acres granted on the G 
September and six smaller fal'lns on the 1 November). He con­
tiimed to increase his holdings in the Liverpool district and latet· 
was granted a further 2,000 acres by Macquarie in recognitiou 
of his work as a magistrate. 

There is a reference to :;'\foore's Bulanaming farm in Mac­
quarie's Journal. On 13 December 1810 Macquarie inspected 
the farms of the Petersham district, between Robert Campbell's 
farm at Canterbury and the Grose farm on the present unive1·­
sity site. He and l\Irs Macquarie came by caniage from Parrn­
matta that morning and had first Yisited the Town ·on and 
Laycock farms on the west side of Botany Bay. HaYing arrived 
at Campbell's farm the governor sent his lady on by carriage 
along the Canterbury Road to a\\'ait him at the Grose farm 
while he inspected the remaining properties on horseback. 'r

called at Mr Moore's, Mr Blaxcell's, Mr Blaxlancl's, Captain 
Rowley's and several other smaller farms in the district of 
Petersham, all of which are poor and of little Yalue; the farm 
houses, however, are tolerably good and considerable pains haYe 
been taken to clear, enclose and irnproYe the lancls.'77 

Moore firmly established his position in the colony under 
Hunter, and he received eYen \\'armer encouragement under 
King, who found him 'a most useful and necessar? officel''. 78 

His ships began to sail. Ciw1berlcn1cl ,ms completed in 1801, ancl 
was used fully for local purposes until she was gi,·en to Flindel's 
in 1803. 'l'he cutter Integrity was begun in 1802, and launched 
in January 1804. King was pleased: 

Althoug·h there wns much interrnption in the work, ,vet the :werng<' 
wa.s only 4 cnrpenters' Jabour for 13 months, nncl one pair of sn.wyers 
20 weeks, exclusive of the la.hour in getting the timher. 'Ne hnve on]�, 
2 men that can he called ship carpenters, the rest bC'ing rough house 
carpenters and 'prentice hoys. T ha,·e stated this circumstance to show 
the time it has taken, "·ith the people "·c hn,·c, to build that vessel, 
which is extrcmcl_v well put together nntl �tl'Ong, and for her fir�t 
rn_n1ge is gone to Basses Straits and the Denrnnt.,n 

'J'he Sycl11ey Gazette \\'as also pleased. 

This ,·essel, built b,1' :\fr :\[oore, is allowed to br the first picec of 
workmanship that has hitherto hccn pel'fornied here; her cabin i� 
spacious and rommoclious, nncl b_v the introduction of a sliding or 
�hifting partition. cnn be ) extr•nrlc,l fonrnr,l ns for ns the forecast!<' 
hulkhearl: hPr kC'cl mC'asu1·es 46 feet. and �he is 60 :feet over-all; aero�� 
the bC'am 16 feel fl inches, and her computed tonnage' 59 3 4th�_so 

On 4 February, when lutegrity set out on her first ,·oyagl' 
tu Port Phillip and the Derwent, 1he g-m·e1·no1· himsel f: 'took 
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an excursion clown the harbour and out of the heads' on board 
her 'by way of trial; and it is acknowledged that both in fast 
sailing, working, and her appearance under way, this handsome 
Yessel answers every expeetation'.8L 

Unfortunately her life was a short 011e. King sent her to 
South America, under a flag of truce, with letters to the 
Governor of Chile concerning the seizure of Spanish Yessels by 
Hctrrington. She sailed from Sydney on 20 Jnne 1805, aud was 
never heard of again. 

The Portlctnd, a larger brig of 160 tons, whose keel had 
been laid in Hunter's time, was still proceeding. There was not 
enough labour to finish her, and in fact she was not completed 
until after l\1oore's time at the dockyard. In 181.6 she was 
launched and renamed Eliza.beth H e11rietta. 

Thus the colony was very short of shipping after the 
departure of both Citmberlamd and Integrity. But Moore had 
his hands full. 

In April 1805 King wrnte: 'The constant wod;: there has 
been for the few carpenters under the master-builder in repair­
ing the Biiff alo, cutting down and 1·efitting the Investigcttor, 
and keeping the other Colonial Yessels in repair, and building 
boats for this and the other settlements, has preYented any other 
vessel being begun for the use of the Crom,, which will be 
commenced as soon as the im1ispcnsible ,rork "·ill ndmit of it.'82 

Meantime, Moore had a second official appointment. For in 
March 1803 King had appointed him Surveyor of Timber for 
Naval Purposes. Hunter had written enthusiastically of the 
New South "\Vales timbers and their vnlue for ship building, and 
how it was proposed to send a ship land to England. I\ioore had 
to inspect and select the wood, and he was given a team of 
carpenters and labourers to hew the ,rood to suitable lengths for 
the ships' holds. He used some timber from his own farm nncl 
from Captain Eber Bunker's, which adjoined it: 'R.ed and other 
gums, string and iron bark, mahogany, and other hard woods' 
were preferred. A new species was discovered on the George's 
River, resembling the lignum, vitae. King requested Moore to 
examine it, and, on his approval, a quantity \\'rlS got re;idy :for 
export.83 

Moore's job was an important one, and he was undel'stancl­
ably disappointed that his nmne was not among those who 
received ;i rise in salary early in 1804. But the go1·ernor wm; 
not slow to impress Lord Hobart with his worth: 

The ma ·tcr boat builder, who has built two decked vessels, and is 
beginning n, third, exclusive of every other work inciclcnt to a person 
in his n.ctivc situntion, ha, rnncle known to me his disnppointrnent in 
not finding himself included in the advance. Could his pay he increased 
to lOs. a clny, 1 humbly conceive it would be soruring- the zeal and 
�orvices of a ,·ery valuable mnn 1'0 this colonv. He has selcrted :rncl 
rollccf·pc] n,ll the timber sent by the Glatton nnci' Calrlll/a .. �\ 
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Another piece of c·r1rprntr:v-,·er.,· mino1·-i11 King·'s reg-imr 
may be mentioned. 

One of King's first actions, and perhaps the earliest forrn 
of corporate beneYolence in the colony, \\·as the founding of the 
Orphan School in 1800. Captain William Kent's fine house and 
garden, on the N.E. corner of George and Bridge Streets, \\'as 
purchased, and a committee '"hich included chaplains Johnson 
and Marsden was charged with establishing the home. :Mrs 
King and Mrs Paterson were daily visitors and a solution to 
the problem of the umrnnted or illegitimate children of convicts 
was attempted. One of the first necessities \\'as to provide beds, 
and it was to Thomas Moore 'the master carpenter' that the com­
mittee turned to give an estimate of the quantity and price of 
timber required to make fifty 'cradles' holding two children 
apiece. Moore duly informed the committee that 1757 feet of 
timber at 10/- per 100 feet would be required.85 

Our knowledge of lVIoore's charactel' is derived entirely 
from incidental references to his activities, and from occasional 
remarks made by others about him. 'vVe haYe nothing from his 
own pen. But it seems clear that, as Broughton said, he had 
'good sense and g·ood principles'. He is frequently found in 
positions of trust. In 1804 he acted for his friend Captain 
Bunker, letting both his farm, and his 'elegant and substantial' 
new stone house in Pitt's Row.86 The same year he became a 
trustee of '\Villiam Cox's estate, with Marsden, Rowley and 
Robert Campbell.87 Captain Rowley himself died in 1806, and 
Moore was eventually appointed by the government to be 
guardian of his children and trustee of his estate.88 '\Vhen 
Thomas Smyth died suddenly in 1805, lVIoore was called on to 
act as coroner;80 he also succeeded Smyth as lieutenant and 
second in command of the Sydney Company of the Loyal 
Association.00 (This seems to have been his first experience in
the militia; though he had earlier acted as a kind of honorary 
artilleryman, for it is reported that 'when the guns were to be 
loaded, even for a salute upon a holiday, the master shipwright 
was the person selected for that pnrpose!'01 He was in demand 
as a business agent. In 1805 he was engaged by 'William Camp­
bell of Madras, master of Hwrrington, to survey cargo aboard 
two Spanish prize ships,02 and a year later he appeared in the
Vice-Admiralty Court as agent for Harrington's owners, as did 
also Simeon Lord.93 

VIII 

King finished his term as governor in 1806, and lVIoore, 
having concluded ten years on the establishment, gave notice of 
his own intention to 'depart for Europe'.94 However, he did not
carry this out. He was still in Sydney when Bligh took office 
in August, and with Richard Rouse, the Superintendent, sub­
mitted a report to Bligh on the condition of the public buildings 
in the colon:'i', beginning, incidentall:'i', with his own house, whicl1 
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was, of course, the first pubVic lrnilcling nt the north end of 
High Street.95 

lVIoore occupied a somewhat ambiguous position in relation 
to Bligh. On the one hand, he retained his situation without 
disturbance by Bligh: Surgeon Harris might complain to ex­
governor King that 'every person who held any situation in 
your time is turn'd to the right about', but lVIoore at least seems 
to have been an exception.90 On the other hand, Bligh specified 
lVIoore as one of those who sought his arrest, and he mentioned 
him again in his famous proclamation of 1809 ns one of fifteen 
civilians whom he forbade to leave the colony.97 

lVIoore, however, though his signatul'e certainly appears on 
the petition to Johnston to arrest Bligh, and again on the lettel' 
of thanks after the event,98 does not seem to have been actively 
involved in the rebellion. He did act with Blaxcell, John Blax­
land, Laycock, Bunker and others on a commission to survey 
the government stores, a survey designed to demonstrate that 
'the most shameful abuses had been practised',99 but he declined 
to serve when appointed to the court of civil jurisdiction. 100 

He said he was too busy with his regular duties; but perhaps he 
had qualms about the whole procedure. He continued at hi,; 
civil job, and Bligh may have been glad enough to know that 
he was at work on PoqJOise, which had been damaged at Hobart 
and was some months under repair at Sydney in the latter 
months of 1808.101 ·when it had been first agreed that Bligh 
should return to England in Porpoise, it was lVIoorc who had 
been called in to make the necessary alterations to Lieutenant 
Symonds's cabin so as to accommodate Bligh to his wishes. 102 

One of Bligh's last acts before finally getting away in Porpoise 
was to give the naval brig Lady Nelson into lVIoore's charge, 
with directions to hand her over to Paterson should he require 
her for the use of the colony.103 

Bligh's indictment of lVIoore must have been because of the 
position he held in the colony rather than because of any overt 
act. After all, he was an officer of the civil establishment, who 
had been party to the governor's arrest. He was also an officer 
in the Loyal Association. In fact, a few weeks after Bligh's 
arrest, he was promoted by Johnston to be Captain and Com­
mandant, in place of Richard Atkins, Bligh's judge-advocate.104 

Officers of the Association ranked next but subordinate to army 
officers of the same rank,105 and this may mean that Bligh 
regarded the Association as in as mutinous a position as the 
New South vVales Corps itself. 

Bligh had further grounds of apprehension regarding 
lVIoore in that, while he (Bligh) was under arrest, lVIoore pur­
chased the Spanish prize ship Pegcisus and announced that he 
was sending it out on a sealing expedition.106 Only a few week,; 
earlier it had been proposed to send Bligh home to England in 
Pegasus. To make things worse, Pega,sils, instead of going aftrr 
seals, left Sydney with a very high-powered party of nayaJ 
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and mri:chant officers and a detachment ol' ;\CW South \\'ales 
Corps to give chase to Hai"l'ington \\'hich convicts had made off 
\\'ith.1°7 After an expensiYe and fruitless jaunt of nine weeks 
to New Zealand and Ne"· Caledonia, she returned, :Moore being
fully recompensed for the charter trip. 108 No doubt some of 
Bligh's annoyance and apprehension over the whole incident 
1·ubbed off on to the new owner of Pegasns. 

lVIoore's work as boat-builder, howeYer, \\·as nearly finishetl. 
A few months after Bligh's departure he formally resigned. 
He had growing interests in trade and larnl. About the same 
time as Bligh left Sydney in Porvoise, Captain Bunker brought 
1\IIoore's Pegasits back to Sydney ( on 15 Mn rch 1809) from a 
highly successful sealing expedition, \\·ith no less than 12,600 
fleal skins. PegcisiLs left on another sealing trip in May 1809 
under Captain Chase, first conveying fifty male prisoners ancl 
provisions to Hobart, where she was intercepted by Bligh.109 

Over a year later she arrived in London (18 August 1810), via 
Stewart Island, Chatham Islands and Rio de J·aneiro, and was 
sold.11° Sealing was .Australia's first export industry, and 
Moore's associations with sealing-both at Dusk? Bay and 
through his own ship-were not insignificant.111

Moore had ne,·er got his rise in salary, but his services to 
t·he colony were not unrecognized. In NoYember 1809 Lieutenant­
Governor Paterson wrote to Lord Castlereagh: 'Mr Thomas 
Moore, Master Boat Builder, having requested to retire, I ha.Ye 
permitted him to do so, and from his having faithfully served 
in that capacity for upwards of 13 years, I haYe judged him n 
proper Object of the indulgences given to settlers of the most 
respectable class.'112 So Moore became a gentleman by govern­
ment direction, despite his humble origins, and it was Thomas 
Moore Esquire whom, on 17 May 1810, Macquarie appointed a 
magistrate in the district of George's River; the same order 
appointing D'.Arcy "\\Tentworth and Simeon Lord, also now 
Esquires, to be magistrates in Sydney.U3 Macquarie entered 
on his duties on 1 January that year, and Moore's life in the 
colony entered a new phase which lies outside the scope of this 
paper.114 Thomas and Rachel entertained the governor and his
lady on his tour of the district in December of that year, and 
Macquarie largely entrusted Moore with the arrangements for 
the founding of Liverpool on the other side of the river from 
Moore Bank. 'Good honest Mr Moore' was the opinion formed 
by Macquarie, and Moore was invited to a dinner-party with 
the governor at which the founding o-f the five new tmn1s 
was celebrated.115 

In all his activities, philanthropic, religious and commercial, 
Moore remained a figure of general esteem. "\\Then in 1827 hr 
sold his shares in the Bank of New South "\\Tales, with which 
he had been associated from its inception, the Sydne11 Gazett<> 

'exquisitely rejoiced' that they were taken up by Mr Danirl 
Cooper, 'o:f: the insnlted firm of Cooper nncl Lev�'', but the edito1· 
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expl'essed regret at Moore's loss to the Bank, on the ground that 
'Mr Moore is an honest, plain-dealing and unsophisticated man, 
and one of our primitive and most respected Colonists'.116 

IX 

I should like to tie a last threac1. 

In February 1823 Lieutenant Andrew Douglass \Vhite 
returned to Sydney in Morley, and joined the Moore household 
at Liverpool. 117 He had left Australia as a babe. He had been 
cared for at first by Elizabeth ·waterhonse, whom he called 'the 
earliest friend of my infancy'. '\;\,Then John ·white married in 
England, Andrew became part of the 'White household. In his 
will he provided generously for his half-sisters and brother, as 
a mark of gratitude for the 'constant kindness and maternal 
affection' of 'my dear and much esteemed Mrs ,Vhite'. But side 
by side with this is a more tender reference to Rachel Moore: 
'to my dearest Mother I know not what to leave except my 
'\Vaterloo medal. It is the only honorary mark of distinction I 
have received. I think she will value it more than anything 
else. '118 

To his mother he now retlll'ned. Perhaps Moore paved the 
way for this during a visit to England in 1818.110 Shortly
after Andrew returned to New South ,Vales he described his 
step-father as 'a real friend of whom few can know the value 
and few can form any idea of my obligations to him':120 In
1827, Andrew '\Vhite made a codicil to his will which throws 
an interesting light on Thomas Moore's own intentions at that 
time: 'Knowing the disposal he has made of his property in my 
favour, I wish whatever property in the colony of New South 
vVales belonging to me at the time of my decease in consequence 
of the bequest of Thomas Moore may be bestowed according to 
the provisions of the last will and testament of Thomas Moore 
of Moore Bank in the same manner as if they never had come 
into my possession'.121 This seems to imply that Moore was at 
that stage planning to make Andrew ,,Thite his heir, but that 
Andrew himself considered he should have no more than a life 
interest in the estate, so· that some other intention which Thomas 
Moore entertained might not be robbed of fulfilment. It is 
natural to suppose that Moore had already conceived the design 
of benefiting the Church of England, and if so, Andrew "Thite's 
self-denial may be taken as a further mark of his esteem for 
the character of his step-father. If we could be sure that Moore 
had thoughts of a benefaction for the Church of England as 
early as 1827, we might speculate as to the possible influences 
which led to this. Broughton did not arrive as archdeacon 
until 1829. His predecessor, the first archdeacon of New So11th 
·wales, was Thomas Hobbes Scott, whom Moore would have
known as Commissioner Bigge's assistant some years earlier.
Scott's work has been variously estimated. But it would hr.
interesting if it could be established that Moore's 'pious and
humble design' owed something to the influence of Scott.
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It will be remembered that, after his return to England 
with Commissioner Biggc, Scott had been ordained, and had 
become rector of the parish of Whitfield near Durham. fo 
1823 his views on the :future of education in the colony of 
New South '\Vales were sought by Lord Bathurst. Scott had set 
out his views in full, and amongst other things had recom­
mended that in one of the central schools (which he advocated) 
there should be organized an acadcrn�· to lay the foundations of 
a university in which students would proceed to degrees in 
classical, scientific and general subjects. Bathurst was impressed 
with Scott's ideas, and the following year Scott became the 
first archdeacon of the colony. In 1826 Scott made a further 
report to Governor Darling on the needs of education, and 
again referred to the need for an institute of higher learning­
which would pave the way for a university. 122 One must all°',. 
the possibility that Moore was aware of Scott's ideas, and that 
he may have ha.cl in mind to assist in their execution. ·when 
Scott returned to England, it was to the '\Vhitfield Rectory in 
Northumberland, whence he had come. Not far away lived 
Thomas Moore's brother, and his n_ephew, and Scott was in 
touch with them.123 This itself suggests n link between Scott 
and Moore. 

However Ancll'ew '\Vhite did not become Moore's heil', fo1· 
he died in 1837.124 A year later his mother, Rachel Moore, died 
also.125 Thomas survived her two years,126 and finally the names 
of all three appeared on the rnult which still stands in the 
Liverpool cemeter�,. 

In St Luke's church nearby is a monument to :Rachel show­
ing her face in profile, and with these words: 'The Tablet of 
Mrs Thomas Moore who departed this life on the 13th clay of 
�oYcm.ber 1838 aged 76 ?Cars. She was the most nffectionate ancl 
Yirtuous wife a tender mother, and ever kind to the poor. She 
was united tb her husband for forty-two years, during which 
time she was a constant attendant at the house of Goel, and n 
strict observer of family prayer, and died in peace.' This 
encomium on a virtuous woman reflects as much honour on 
Thomas as it does on Rachel. It is pleasant to think that, if she 
had once been less respectable than her husband, at least it was 
all above forty-two years before. Time mends all, and tocla? 
the portrait of this one time prisoner of the Crown, appearing 
on the same canrns as her husband's, hangs in the Chapter 
House of St Andrew's Cathedral along with those of Bishop 
Broughton and his episcopal successors.127 
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.I. For St Jan1es·; College see nn appcn,lix in .\I. L. Loane, .·I ('!'11/cnary 
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2. 'Translated for the Sydney Morn-ing IIernld by two o:I' the divinity
students, George Fairfowl Macarthur and George Gregory. See Da\'is,
op. cit.

3. Original letter in the Broughton Librnry, �\Joorc College, Sydney.
4. Broughton to Joshua \Vnt�on, 29 �o,·cn1ber 1838. Original i11

Broughton Librnry.
5. Ibid. In his will, datell 6 Fc1Jrna1·.v 1839, :'lfoorc rlirectecl that th,•

College was to be called 'Moore's College', though from the time it
was opened in 1856 it seems to ha\'e been called ":\loo!'() College', and 
111ore recently 'Moore Theologica.l College'. A ne11· church at :'lfoorn· 
bank, opened on 4 ,January 1970, hns been l'Hllcrl ·St Thonins's 
Chmch', in the spirit of the original proposal.

6. [bid.
,. Original letter, dated 25 Febrnar_v ]839, in Broughton Library. 
8. Pai11tecl by a i\fr Griffiths, who also clid n portr:iit of :'l[r Justice

Burton. Both oils arc described by nn nrt critic in the Sydney Morn­
ing Hernld, 26 July 1847, as deficient in drawing and effect. 

9. An Account of the Engli.sh ('olony in New S0•1rlh Wales, London 
1804, p. 174. This Britcmnia is frequently confused with Britann-ict 
under Captain i\Jelville which came out in the third fleet in July 
1791, went on a local whaling expedition returning to port in 
November 1791, left Sydney in Ja11uary 1792 ancl did not retmn 
until 1797 .

.10. Journal of Hobert Murry, fourth officer of /Jrifonnia.. The MS 
journal is in the Peabody Museum of Salem, i\Jnssachusetts, and 
covers the perio,l 16 Febrnnry 1792 to 16 Apri I 1796. 'These and 
other extracts 11·cre copied by Dr Neil C'. Begg of Dunedin, to whom 
my thanks are clue. The portion of the log rel::iting to the Dusky 
Bay expedition is reproduced in Jh1slcy Bay, A. Charles Begg and 
Neil C. Begg, Christchmch 1966 ( re,·ised eel. 1968). 

J.l. John Cobley, Syclney Co-ve .l79.l-1792, Sydney 1965, p. 284f. Ko 
information of his ,earlier life has so far come to light. The .Aiu,­
trnl·ian Encyclopnecl-ia says 'born npparnntly in Jrelnncl'. A plaque 
in St Anclrell''S Cathedral, Sydney, erected by the Chapter in 1919 
says 'born in England 1762'. Bishop Broughton's corrnsponclence (sec 
Notes 3-7) ·iHclicates that Moore had a brother, sister and nephew in 
either Northumberland or Dul'lrn111 at the time of his death in 1840 . 

.12. Begg, Ditsky Bc1y, pp. 17, 42; also nrticlP 'Sen!., nncl Sealing', Thf' 
Aiistral-icin Encyclopaeclic1. 

13. Begg, op. cit., p. 184, Coble.v, op. cit., pp. 301, 310f.
]4. ,ve can as:ume that i\foore's i111press·ons of Syclnc.r 11·oulcl h,wc 

corresponded, more 01· less, ll'ith those of 11ut'I'.)', 11·hose jounrnl con­
tains very internsting comments 011 the colon.v ns it appeared to him 
in 1792. He praises the system of trade nncl the nclministration of 
justice as 'most equitable', n,ncl is impressed with the opportunities 
for settlers and prisoners. 'It is universally n.cknowleclged that the 
present Governor has clone wonders.' Murry reported n, very different 
story on Bri.ta.nn·ici's second visit, 11·hen Grose wns in ch:Hge. Incidents 
duri11g the first \'isit inclurlecl Britannia. being robbed of gunpowder 
(17 September) and Captain Ra,·en being robbrd 11·hile stn._yiHg ashore 
n.t the house of Esther Abrahams, n co111·ict (9 October). (Cobley) . 

.l5. Captain Raven to Lieutenant-Govcl'llor J-::ing, llis'lorical Records of 
New Son'lh Wa.les, Vol. TT, p. 9clc. 

16. This is the comment of Charles nllll Neil Begg, whose beautiful and
:fascinating book grcntl.v cnlil'r11s our unrlrrstn111ling· of this rpisoclr•
in i\'[oorn's career. 

I "i. Begg, op. cit., p. 188. 
18. Ibid., p. 206.
19. Thiel p. 232.
:!0. B.R.N.S.W., Yo!. V, p. 10,.
2]. Tbicl., p. 340.
�2. Il.R.N.S.TV., Vol. H, p. 95.
23. For the full story, see Begg, op. cit., pp. ,S-8:l, I !l�-�os; :drn Collins, 

op. cit., pp. 3 15f. 
�J. fl(•gg. op. r·it'., p. ,;l 
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25. Il..B.N.S.W., Vol. II, pp. 86-93.
26. Thiel., pp. 193, 218. Collins, p. 265, rcpol't: l�:11"cn's encounter with

this 'fleet of piratical Proas', adding·, 'frolll whom he might ha,·e 
found some difficulty to escape, Imel he not fortunately killed the
Captain of one of them when in thr net of 111nking pr<'pnrntions for
boarding him'. �roore was getting his share of' nrh-cntur<'.

27. Collin:, op. cit., p. 273.
28. Begg, op. cit., p. J91.
:29. t do not know for CCl'tain that �loon· ncco111pnnicd JJri"tmmia 011

t·hese last \"Oyagcs to Cape Town and Calcutta. F. B. Boyce, Tltonws 
.lloore, An E'<irly A11stralinn Jrorll1y, Lon,lon, 1914, says ·\\"c rcn<l ol' 
him as in 1796 the ship's carpenter of the Brit.annirt', p. J, but gi,·c� 
no rcfcrnnce. 

30. 11.R.N.S.JiV., Vol. 11 r, p. 115. 
31. Il.R.N.S.W., Vol. I[, p. 214. 
32. H.R.N.S.W., Vol. nr, J.l· 7:l.
33. ll.R.N.S.W., Vol. H, p. 345.
34. 11.lLJV.S.W., Vol. I IT, p. 89.
35. Begg, op. cit., p. ,-!.
36. 11.R.N.S.W., Vol. 11.L, p. 180. 
37. Ibid., p. 214ff. 
38. Photo ·at copy ol' register of marriage , St Philip's Church, Sydney. 

The original is held b_v the Registmr-Gcncral's Department, Sydney. 
39. Hex Hienits, Biogrnphical Introdnr·tion in .Journal of n Voyage 10 

"/\Tew S0111/t /Vale�. hy ,John Wide, eclitrd A.Ice H. C'hishol111, Sydn<'_,· .
1962.

{0. JI.R.N.S.W., Vol. \'r, p . .l50. 
41. Ibid., p. 29 . 
42. JJ..B.N.S.TV., \'ol. 111, pp. 03, i0. 
43. llistor ·ica.l Records of A11stralia, \' ol. I, p. 5,rs. 
44. Coble,v, op. cit., JJ· 288. 
45. Grilllcs' Plan of Rydnr:r, 1800, 11.T!'"V.,<;.11· .. Vol. \', p. 8:l,. 
-lO. See note 29. 
ii. JJ..R.N.S.W., Vol. 11, p. 208. 
48. Smyth hncl been a sergeant in the 111ari11cs, and had been appointed 

, 'uperintenclcnt of Stores b_v Gornrno,· Phillip in 1792, when Moor<' 
was first in Syclncy. Robert �Iurry stayed at his store in li95, aud 
wrote in his journal: 'the character of that gentleman is so well 
known by per ·ons who ,·isit Port Jackson that any tribute I coulcl 
pay would be superfluous'. He was later to l ccome Prol"Ost 1Inrshal. 
When he died sutlclcnl,v in 1805 at the Hn11·keshury, it frll to 1Ioorr 
to net as coroner for his friend, nnd he succeeded him as lieutenant 
in the Sydney company of the Lo,vnl A::ociation. �[nrgaret Da11·son 
was Rnchel's oppo:itc number in the household of the second surgeon, 
William Balmnin. She 11·as a conYict from Lnncr,shirc. She borP
Baima.in n. clnughtel' (J.nne) on 2i March 1797, and a son (John
William) on 20 August 1800. She cvid ntly returned with Balmain
to Englan1l in Albion (Captain Eber Bunkel', 1[oore's friend) and 
t·her was another child in 1803. Balmnin died shortly nfter this, 
only a little o,·er -!0, and although he ancl 1fargaret had not been
legally married he pro,·ided for her and the rhllrlren g·rnerousl_v in hi� 
will. See A11stmlirm J)ir/i01wry of Rio_r1rnphy. 

-!9. Sec note 38. 
50. Tl.R.N.S.rv., \'ol. TI I, pp. 280, :ms. 
51. rl id., p. :l37.
59 'L'he late �r. lf. l•:llis kindly g:11·e n"' hi� a�s:srnncc in the followin�

section, :111d pro,·iclrll ndrlitionnl i11fo1·1nnt-'011 nhont T11rnh11ll and 
Bu1•crs. 

,33. JI.R.N.S.JI· .. \'ol. 11.r, p. 608. 
54. Hirn its, op. c·it. pp. 28, :l L. 
55. Sydney GazPIII'. -t 1i"al'<·h 180-t
50. S.G., 8 April I 04. 
57. S.G., 23 and 30 August 1 0,: ·That c•xccllcntil· situntcd dwelli11�

house in the Hig·h Str<'rt, Sy,lnc•y, 1,.,Jo11gi11g to :11i°(l formerly orc11piP1l
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by Captain Rarnn, the \\'hole painted red and in good rept1ir, and 
occupying a lease \\'hereof nine years are unexpired'. Raven's lot 
was 25 rods in 1799. 

58. II.ll.A., Series r, Yol. VI r, pp. 304, 654. Sec also The Saint clnclrew·s 
Ccttllellral Properly fnves/ men/ Ordinm1ce of 1906, Synod of Sydney 
Diocese. 

59. Mitchell \\'a· still the tenant ll"hen :\[oore ga,·c the property to 
Bishop Broughton. :\Litchcll ll"itnessl'il 11.ool'e·s \\'ill in Febrnarv 1839 
along ll"ith Dr Ki11chela and ,Tohn Gurnel', thief ,·lel'k ol' thr• r-;;qJren1e
Coul't.

UO. Jl .KA., Serie� I I[, \' ol. VI r, p. 809. 
Iii. ll.R.N.S.W., Vol. HI, pp. 584ff. 
fi2. lbicl., p. 453; ibid., Vo1.·1v, p. 811. 
63. H.R.N.S.W., Vol. nI, p. 363.
ti4. Ibicl., p. 337. The li:t of gon.!rnn,cnt Jioating t:rnft at September 

l800 included 'a ll"haleboat fol' the GoYernor's use, built at Port 
,Jackson', H.R.N.S.W., Vol. IV, p. 157. Mr. Allan Bax has kindly 
supplied me with the following description of B:iss's \\'halcboat as 
given in K. H. Bowden's George Bass 1771-1803, //is cliscoveries etc., 
p. 59: ·The "·hale-boat \\'llS built in Syclney of nati,·e timber. lt \\'as
28 feet 7 inches in length, rather flat floored ll"ith a somewhat curved
keel and with head ancl tern alike, a� ,ms the case with all whale­
boats. It wa. constructed of banksia wood and mi� linetl with cedar.
lt was designed to row eight oars but six \\"Pre suffi�icnt f'or o,·dinar.v 
purposes'. 

U5. ll.R.N.1:3.TV., \'ol. V, pp. 610, 626. 
66. S.G., 18 September 1803.
(j7, JI.R.N.S.W., Vol. VH, p. 456.
li8. Voycige, Vol. ri:, p. 496.
69. H.R.N.S.W., Vol. V, pp. 1, 14.
70. H.R.N.S.TV., Vol. TH, p. 313.
il. II.R.A., Series J, Vol. n, p. 46.1..
72. H.R.N.S.W., Vol. ITT frontispiece. 
73. The grant describes the propcrt.v as bounded ·on the north by an 

allotment gTanted to :I.fr Edward Laing and extending to the South­
\\'est corner of Annandale and up to the Xorth side of Jeffries and
Abell's Farms and bounded on the East side b,Y an allotment granted
to Mr '

L

'homas Smyth. The said 470 acres to be known by the name
of Douglas Farm'. Othe1· references to its location in rrlation to
neighbours are in YUrions nrh·cl'tiscments in the S,11llney Gnze/,te, e.g.
for 17 .Jul.v 1803. Sec Lanrl Tit-Jes Offiet•, S,vrlnc,v, Lan,1 Grants
Heg·ister.

i•L ll.R.N.S.TV., Vol. lV, p. 648. 
75. Ibid., p. 933.
7(i. L.'l'.O. Register. It was bounded on the East li,Y a swamp, on the 

South by Cook's Hi,·cr, and on the ::'forth b,v various farms, including 
his own. 

, ,. Lachlcm llfocqua.rie . . .  Journals of llis Tot1r8 in Ne1r South Wales
ctnll Vmt Dieinen's Lancl .1810-1822. Syclnc,Y , 1956, p. 3i. 

". H.R.N.S.W., Vol. VI, p, 139. 
i9. H.R.N.S.W., Vol. V, p. 33 . 
80. S.G., 11 December 1803. 
8]. S.G., 5 Febrnary 1804. '.L'he Sydney Gazette of 15 .January described

the launching of this, 'the first Ycssel e ver launched in the Colony 
(those formerly built ha ving been floated off). At a quarter past 9 
tltc tide answering, the props "·c,·c strnck, and shn darted into the 
bosom of Neptune \\'ith a l'acility and Yclocit_,- that rould not be 
rxceeded. As �0011 as �IH• clippetl, HlS EXCELLENf'Y pcrfonned 
the baptismal r,ercn1011y, and .-uch was her ll"a,v that she nearly half 
rrossed the Cove before she hrought. np . . . . Shr \\'Pnt off in as 
capital a manner as coulrl be expected or wishNl; ancl a� :0011 as she 
started, the Ynnl hcing- full of �pN·tator�, hrr hring- afln:JI· ,n1� 
gratulated by thrc>P }:ng·lish Cheer� .. .' 

8:!. Il.R.N.S.TV., Vol. Y, p. 610. 
R3. S.r.-., li .Jul.v 1803: al�o 19 and :!fi \f:ud, IXll:I. 
8-L 11.7/.X.S.ff., Yol. \', I'· :1:in. 
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85. fl.B.N.S.-,,V., Vol. .I.\' , p. 232.
86. S.G., 4 March 1804, 9 September 1811-1.
87. S.G., 8 July :1804.
88. '!.'he circumstance· arc obscure. �roo,·r was an ·intimate friend' oJ' 

Rowley's, but he accepted the guardianship only with reluctance on
1acquarie's insistence in 1812. For son,e reason he "·as involved in 

heavy financial losse8 ns a. result, nncl mnny years later, in 1837, he 
petitioned Sir Richard Bourke £or compen�ation. 'l.'hr home gornrn­
ment refused to acknowledge the valiclit,v of Macquaric's authority in
the matter, but the N.S.W. Legi lati,·c Council ,·otecl Moore £2,500 
compensation in 'eptember ]840-3 months before his clenth. Sr,• 
fl.R.LI. T, Vol. XTX, pp. 79, 421; Vol. XXI, pp. 47, 3 6.

89. S.G., 23 December 1804.
90. S.G., 2 March 1805.
91. fl.R.N.S.W., Vol. VJ.I, p. 249.
92. S.G., 26 May 1805. The same i ·sue l'Cport.8 t h:it l\loorc \\':IS '(J\'t'r·

turned in a chnise nnrl ... hnd his leg broke by the £nil'. 
93. S.G., l June 1806. 
94. S.G., 15 June 1806. 
95. fl.R.N.S.W., Vol. VI, pp. 163--!. 
96. Ibid., p. 340.
97. Ibid., p. 620, Vol. vn, p. 66.
98. Ibid., p. 434 nnd p. 455.
99. Ibid., p. 460 and p. 581.

100. Ibid., p. 515 anrl p. 521.
101. Ibid., p. 736.
102. Tbid., p. 550, p. 565, p. 566, Vol. ,·11, p. 15, p. :12, p. 37, p. 7:!.
103. H.R.N.S.rv., Vol. vn, p. 268.
104. fl.R.N.S.W .. Vol. VI, p. 532.
105. Ibid., p. 143.
106. Pegcis11s anived in Port Jackson on I Octobc1· .l807, having beeu 

captured front the Spaniards by II.l\J. Frigate Comwcillis. 'l'hc
Syclney Gazette of 12 May 1808 stated thnt Mr '.1.'homas Moore had
purchased Pegasus, and Bligh's complaint to Castlereagh (8 July
1809) spoke of the ship which pul'sucd Jlarrington as Moore's
ship. D. R. Hains\\'orth's article on Simeon Lord in the A.·11stmlim1
flictionary of Biography clnims Lord nnd Dr .Tohn Hanis ns joint 
O\\'ners with Moore. 

Robert McNab in M11.rih-ik11 (1909) described Pegasus as 'destined 
... to be recorded pioneer of Fo,·eaux Strait between South Island 
and Stewart Island, N.Z. and to give her nnme to the southern port 
of Stewart Island' ( p. 155). 

107. An ineffectual pursuit had first been attempted by ::\Iacarthur's smnll 
vessel, Halcyon, whirh ha� thus sometimes bren confused with Moore's 
vessel.

108. fl.R.A. J, Vol. VI, p. 689, fl.R.N.S.W., Vol. VU, p. 191. She had
sniled from Sydney on 26 August 1808, 011 a very lucrntive sealing·
voyage, during which Foveaux Strait wns pionPcrNl. Sec 'Senls nnrl
Sealing' in 'l'he Ll.1islrnlfon Encyclopaeclia.

109. fl.R.LL. I, Vol. VII, p. 175.
110. I am grateful to l\

I

r A. E. Bax for some of the fol'egoing infol'­
mation, nnd for other assistance in connection \\'ith this paper. 

111. For the reprehensible aspect of this indu�tl',v, �re now Alan :VIoorhcacl, 
'l'he Fatal Im.pact, London, 1966. 

U2. fl.R.A. I, Vol. VU, p. 177. 
113. 11.R.N.S.W., Vol. VTT, p. 381.
114. Moore had already built a house nt ::\Ioore Bank, ll'hich is mentioned

in the flood reports of June 1809 (fl.R.N.S.W. Vol. VII, p. 166).
The George's River l'Ose 34' above normal. 'The whole space, extend­
ing from the bottom of the Horse-shoe Pond to the house of l\fr
�fool'e, was totally under water, nnd has the rnsemblance of an
extensive lake.'

1:15. l\facqual'ie's Jonrna/.s (see Note 77), p. 3, p. 32. Rachel, the ex­
convict, is now 'our kind hostess l\frs Moore'. l\Jncquarie enjoyed tlw 
�foOt'C'� ho. pitalit.v on n number of occnsion:. 
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116. 
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l20. 

121. 
122. 

123. 

.12-1. 

125. 

'126. 

127. 

I owe this reference, ll'ith othel' infonuntion 1·cgal'ding i\loore's cnrly 
association and dealings with the Bank of N.S. W., to Patricia Quinn , 
Archivist of the Bank of N.S.W. in its sesqui-centenary year. 
S.G., 13 Febrnary 1823. Sec note 39. 
Andrew White's will, 1571 (1), Probate Office, Sydney.
M. L. Loane refers to such a ,·isit in his article on Moore in the
.d.11.strali.a.n Dfot·iona.ry of JJiogrnvhy. Rienits states that Andrew
White, who had been an officer in the lfoyal Engineers since 1812,
remained on service in Frnnce, after the battle of ·wa.terloo, until 1818.
'Nhite ll'as promoted second captain in 1826, op. cit., p. 31. 
From his will, dated 12 June 1824 ( �ee note 118). He left Moore his 
gold watch and cha.in: 'he will Yalue them becnnsc they once wel'e
1nine'.
Dated 30 November 1827. See note ll8. 
H.R.A . .J:, Vol. X[J, p. 316; A. G. Austin, Select Doc11'1nents in Lhts­
t ·rnlicin Ecl11-ca.t·ion 1'788-1900, Melbourne )963, p. 7. 
Broughton to ·watson, 29 November 1838: 'I learned tha.t he had stil1 
a brother and a nephew living in England. 'l'hey live T believe in 
the North of England neal' to Archdeacon Scott, through whom some 
communication has been once or oftener made to them.' 

Broughton to Coleridge, 22 December 1841: ' ... the old gentle­
man has left a brother and sister ... i\foore's family are in com­
munication with the Heverencl Archdeacon Scott, \Vhitfield Rectory, 
Haydon Bridge, Northumberl::wd, and with the Reverend George 
Fielding, Bishop-Auckland: through either of whom the papers might 
be conveyed to them: most readily l believe by the lattel''. Originals 
in Broughton Librnry, Moore College, Sydney. 
On 24 Kovember, at his residence, Pal'l'arna.ttn, nfter n short illness', 
Sydney klorn·ing Herald, 27 Nornmber 1837. Rienits says 'he lived 
for some years in Macquarie Street, Parrarnatta, where on 18th June 
1835 he married Mary Ann, eldest daughter of A. K. :\Iackensie, J.P., 
of Dockca.irn, Bathurst', op. cit., p. 31. 
'At Liverpool, on the 13th instant, i\'Irs Hachel :\fool'e, nfter a. long 
protracted illness ... aged 76 years. She died in pence, mnch, and 
deservedly, lnmented', Sydney Morning Hernld, 21 November 1838. 
'At his residence, Liverpool, on Thursday, the 24th instant,, in the 
seventy-ninth year of his age . .. Mr Moore ll'f\S one of ou1· olclest 
Colonists and much esteemed for his pict,v nncl charity', Syclney 
Morning Herald, 28 December )840. 
My interest in Moore's early carne1· ,rns first stimulated by Arch­
deacon F. B. Boyce's pamphlet, Thomas 11'Ioore, An Enrly .d.11strctlietn 
·worthy (London, 1914). There are short articles in '!.'he .d.1,stral·ia.n
Encyclopaeclict and the Lh1stmliam, Di.ctiona,ry of Biography, ancl some
reference in Archbishop Loane's A Centenciry History of Moore
Theological College, Sydney, 1955. There is room for a further study
of Moore's years at Liverpool, 1810-1840, his place in the life of the
colony during those years, and of the history of his benefactions to
the present clay. Self-perpetuating trnstees, appointed under his will
still administer Thomas Moore'� Estate whirh is nn important feature 
in the affairs of the Dioce�e of S_vdne,,·, 

Note: 8ydney Cove, West Side, about 1810 (Picture facing page 180). 
In the centre is the Government Dockyard, with the Hospital buildings 
immediately beyond it. At the left, visible between the foremast and the 
mainmast of the ship, is 'l'homas i\foore's house, up from the public wharf 
and beyond the market place. Essex Lane (now Globe Street) extends up 
the hill beside it. At the right is the master boatbuilder's house occupied 
by Moore in 1799, beyond the rocks and trees and next to Robert Camp­
bell's house at the extreme right. This section of the shore is occupied tocln? 
l>,v the Maritime Service Building� nnrl the Overseas 'l'el'rninnl. 
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.A POSTSCRIPT 

SL:ce this essay went to press, so□e docur.1ents relating to 
Captai:1. = -Ienry Waterhouse have come to light� not previously publish.eds 
They contain interesting references to persons and affairs ooiu�ected 
witb. the ool.ony of' IroS.il. References in th.ea to Andrew Uhite lead ne 
to thin2:: that .Andrew did not accor.1pa.n.y his :fatherr Jolm White, to 
Engla:n.d in 1794 � but that Thomas 1'ioore accepted responsibility for the 
child a:fter his marriage to Rachel Turner, and entrusted hi!i.1 to the 
care of' =-�enry Waterhouse when the latter returned to England in 13000. 
lmdrew was certainly living with the 11aterhouses in 1804 and 1806, 
though spending vacations at the home of' his father, Joh:.1 1lhite. I 
furtI:er surmise that Ho ore may have purcr...ased Andrew: s comn1ission for 
n.1.::n. In 1812 William Waterhouse (l-Ienry t s :father) wrote to Moore 
about .Andrew who had just been cor.n:lissioned as Lieutenant i;1 t..½.e 
Royal Engineers s that 11he is a very handsome young man I a11d I a1a 
con:fiden t as good as b.andsoi:le 

3 
and I doubt not will by his conduct 

repay you for all your expe:::1.se a."1d trouble 11• 

Ee:nry 1-Ja terhouse :1.ad been an o:ff'icer o:n the Sirius a:.1d :-iad thel1 
commanded the .�elia:ace. Ee had property in Sydney and Parra.matta 1 

which Iloore became agent :for after Waterhouse t s departure. Ee 
introduced the :first i:1erino s�-ieep into n oS, U. from the Cape of Good 
Hope in 1797 � and supplied lanbs to Itla.cart:1.ur and Icfarsde:n, with 
well-l:::.101v:1- coi1sequences. Did he [°;!.lso sell lambs to Moore? In October 
18oL:. l�e wrote to Eoore: 11 'I'he Spa:nis:i.1. ·wool •••• I believe will shortly 
be ai1 object of' attention to Governr:1011 t, :fro□ whl.ch I thi1'lk yo u cay 
prof'i t, by l;:eeping yo1..1r wool e tc e 11• D. U. 3. R. 
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